2008

Karl H. Seethaler v. Don W. Call, Linda Call : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this matter is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (2008) because the Supreme Court of Utah transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether, in a case involving Calls' construction of an encroaching cement wall on Seethaler's property, the trial court erred by awarding money damages to Seethaler rather than ordering Calls to remove the encroaching wall. (R. at 79, 433, 435, 442-444).

Standard of Review: Correctness with respect to Conclusions of Law and when considering the trial court's choice of remedy, an abuse of discretion standard.

Authorities for Standard of Review: In cases at law, findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard, *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994), and conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.* at 936; *see also Scharf v. BMG Corp.*, 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). For cases in equity, the standard of review for both findings of fact and conclusions of law is the same as for cases at law. *RHN Corp. v. Veibell*, 2004 UT 60, ¶ 35, 96 P.3d 935. With respect to a trial court's choice of remedy the standard is abuse of discretion. *Johnson v. Hermes*, 2005 UT 82, ¶ 28, 128 P.3d 1151.

2. Whether the trial court erred in finding Calls acted in good faith. (R. at 437).

Standard of Review: Correctness; Clearly Erroneous

Authority for Standard of Review: In cases at law, findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard, *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994), and conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.* at 936; *see also Scharf v. BMG Corp.*, 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). For cases in equity, the standard of review for both findings of fact and conclusions of law is the same as for cases at law. *RHN Corp. v. Veibell*, 2004 UT 60, ¶ 35, 96 P.3d 935.

3. Whether the trial court erred in granting Calls a *de facto* right of condemnation by allowing Calls to keep the encroaching wall in place in perpetuity, forever enclosing Seethaler's land within Calls' encroaching wall. (R. at 79, 433, 435, 438-39, 442).

Standard of Review: Correctness

Authority for Standard of Review: In cases at law findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard, *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994), and conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Id.* at 936; *see also Scharf v. BMG Corp.*, 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). For cases in equity, the standard of review for both findings of fact and conclusions of law is the same as for cases at law. *RHN Corp. v. Veibell*, 2004 UT 60, ¶ 35, 96 P.3d 935.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations determinative or of central importance to this appeal. Cited case law precedent is determinative to the issues before this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

All facts contained in the Statement of Facts are referenced to the proceedings below.

The cited record of proceedings below shall be referred to in the following manner:

1. References to the Record Pleadings and Entries at Numbered Pages of the Record Index: (R. at ____).
2. References to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed April 28, 2005: (Findings, 2005, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
3. References to the Judgment and Decree filed April 28, 2005: (Judgment, 2005, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
4. References to the Interim Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed July 27, 2007: (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
5. References to the Interim Supplemental Judgment and Decree filed July 27, 2007: (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
6. References to the Final Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law filed January 28, 2008: (Final Findings, 2008, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
7. References to the Final Judgment and Decree filed on January 28, 2008: (Final Judgment, 2008, R. at ____ ¶ ____).
8. References to the Official Transcript of Bench Trial dated June 29, 30, and July 1, 2004: (T. Vol. ____ at ____).
9. Reference to Transcript of Bench Trial dated November 28, 2006: (2006-T at ____).

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from a Decision from the Bench made July 1, 2004 (T. Vol. 3 at 73); Judgment and Decree (Judgment, 2005, R. at 189; attached as Exhibit A), and Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law (Findings, 2005, R. at 195; attached as Exhibit B) both filed April 28, 2005; Interim Supplemental Judgment and Decree (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 432; attached as Exhibit C), and Interim Supplemental Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 437; attached as Exhibit D), both filed July 27, 2007; entered by the First District Court, Cache County, State of Utah, the Honorable Gordon J. Low presiding; and Final Judgment and Decree (Final Judgment, 2008, R. at 480), and Final Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (Final Findings, 2008, R. at 477), both filed January 28, 2008; entered by the First District Court, Cache County, State of Utah, the Honorable Timothy R. Hansen presiding, which collectively found Calls knowingly built an encroaching wall on Seethaler's property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 211-13). Nonetheless, the trial court found Calls acted in good faith and refused to order the removal of the encroaching wall, knowingly and intentionally built on Seethaler's property. (Interim Findings, 2005, R. at 437-38). Seethaler appeals the rulings of the First District Court to the extent monetary damages were awarded rather than requiring Calls to remove the wall, and the finding Calls acted in good faith. Seethaler also appeals the trial court's decision to grant Calls a *de facto* private right of condemnation.

B. Course of Proceedings

Seethaler originally filed a Complaint against Calls in this matter on March 31, 2003. (R. at 3). On April 28, 2003, Calls answered the Complaint and asserted a Counterclaim against Seethaler. (R. at 12). On June 22, 2004, Seethaler filed its Trial Brief requesting, *inter alia*, a judgment quieting title in the disputed parcel south of the reinforced concrete dividing wall built by Calls, a declaration that a long-standing fence line and consistent survey were reflective of the true and correct boundary line between Seethaler's and Calls' property, and that said encroaching wall be removed at Calls' expense. (R. at 77, 79). The trial court issued its decision from the Bench on July 1, 2004. (T. Vol. 3 at 73). On April 27, 2005, a Memorandum Decision served as notice to the parties of the entry of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment and Decree. (R. at 187).

The Court signed the Judgment and Decree and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on April 28, 2005. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 189; Findings, 2005, R. at 195). They established that Seethaler had satisfied each and every requirement for the establishment of a boundary by acquiescence pursuant to Utah Law, and, thus, the wall built by Calls was located on Seethaler's property. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 191 ¶ 4; Findings, 2005, R. at 211 ¶ 4). However, the trial court reserved for later hearing the issue of how the parties were to address the removal or other handling of the encroaching wall. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 193 ¶ 8; Findings, 2005, R. at 214 ¶ 10). Additionally, the Calls' Counterclaim and all causes of action therein were dismissed with prejudice. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 194 ¶ 10; Findings, 2005, R. at 214 ¶ 11).

On July 27, 2007, after further evidentiary hearings regarding the matters reserved in the Judgment and Decree and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court entered an Interim Supplemental Judgment and Decree and Interim Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 432; Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 437). The trial court determined that, although Calls built the wall on Seethaler's property, it may remain in place in perpetuity. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 2, 435 ¶ 16; Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 438 ¶ 2, 444 ¶ 14). The trial court also specifically found that all parties acted in good faith and that no party acted in bad faith. (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 437 ¶ 1). Additionally, the trial court reserved for a later hearing in equity, matters concerning damage done to a tree on property of Seethaler's Co-Plaintiff; an issue resolved by the trial court and not being appealed. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 435 ¶ 17; Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 444 ¶ 15). Finally, the interim judgments provided the time limit for appeal by either party should extend until thirty (30) days after final disposition of a pending motion, and each party waived any objection to and consented to the appeal time as provided. (Interim Judgment, 2007 R. at 435 ¶ 19; Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 445 ¶ 17).

The Court entered the Final Judgment and Decree and Final Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on January 28, 2008. (Final Judgment, 2008, R. at 477; Final Findings, 2008, R. at 480). On February 25, 2008, Seethaler filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. at 487).

C. Disposition in the Court Below

The trial court ruled in favor of Seethaler on the issue of the location of the correct boundary line between the Seethaler's property and Calls' property. The trial court determined Seethaler satisfied each and every requirement for the establishment of a boundary by acquiescence pursuant to Utah law. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 191 ¶ 4). Further, it was determined, even if Seethaler could not meet the boundary by acquiescence requirements, the Hansen Survey (a 2002 survey that is consistent with Seethaler's position as to the location of the boundary line) accurately delineates the true boundary line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 211 ¶ 5). The treatment of the encroaching wall built by Calls was reserved for later judgment. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 193 ¶ 8).

On July 27, 2007, an Interim Supplemental Judgment and Decree (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 432) and Interim Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 437) were entered that dealt with the treatment of the encroaching wall. It was determined that the Hansen Survey should be recorded to reflect the property lines and boundaries between the Seethaler's and Calls' property. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 1). However, despite the true and correct property lines being recorded, the trial court allowed the existing cement wall to remain in place in perpetuity, and granted occupancy of Seethaler's property, now enclosed by the cement wall, to Calls. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 2, 435 ¶ 16). In other words, Seethaler's land, enclosed by Calls' encroaching wall, is to remain under the legal ownership of Seethaler (thus, subjecting him to taxes and other legal obligations and risks of an owner on the enclosed land), but granting Calls rights of

exclusive occupancy on a perpetual basis. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 3). Calls' encroaching wall was allowed to remain where wrongfully built.

As compensation for the taking, the trial court awarded Seethaler monetary damages: namely, \$8,900 for the loss of the property that was "taken" from Seethaler (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 7; Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 439 ¶ 16) and \$500 for the anticipated taxes Seethaler will have to pay for the taken property over the next 20 years. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 8). Costs were also awarded to Seethaler in the amount of \$609.25. (Interim Judgment, 2007, R. at 435 ¶ 15).

In addition, the trial court found that all parties in this matter acted in good faith and that no party acted in bad faith. (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 437 ¶ 1). This decision was made despite numerous findings showing Calls willfully, intentionally, and with notice of their wrongful trespass, commenced and continued building an encroaching wall on Seethaler's property. (See generally Findings, 2005, R. at 199-202). Further, the court found Calls entered the court with unclean hands. (Findings, 2005, R. at 205 ¶ 76). Nevertheless, the court found that Calls acted in good faith, and refused to order the removal of the encroaching wall, knowingly and intentionally built by Calls on Seethaler's property. (Interim Findings, 2007, R. at 433 ¶ 1-2).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Appellant Karl H. Seethaler owns land (“Seethaler Property”) adjacent to land owned by Don W. Call and Linda Call (“Call Property”). The north boundary of the Call Property is the south boundary of the Seethaler Property (“Boundary Line”). (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 4).

2. Construction on the Seethaler Property began in about 1972 and consists of four (4) apartment buildings and a total of thirty-six (36) rental units rented to single students. (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 6). Typically, there are four (4) students in each unit, with a total capacity of approximately 140 students. (2006-T at 12). The parcel size is slightly over one acre.

3. The Call Property was approved by Logan City for development and construction in the early 1990’s and Don W. Call and Linda Call (collectively “Calls”) began constructing buildings on the Call Property in 1994. (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 7).

4. In 1993, Calls hired Wayne Crow, a licensed surveyor, to survey and prepare a site plan for the Call Property (“Crow Survey”). The survey utilized and referenced a fence between the Call Property and the Seethaler Property as the northern line of the development of the Call Property, and as the boundary between the properties (“Fence Line”). (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 10). The Crow Survey clearly placed the Boundary Line at the Fence Line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 202 ¶ 42). Wayne Crow notified Calls that the Fence Line plainly displayed a line of possession by Seethaler and the Crow Survey recognized the Fence Line

as the north boundary of the Call property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 202 ¶ 44). Calls provided this survey to Logan City as a basis for the development. (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 10).

5. In 2001, Calls hired Layne Smith, a licensed surveyor, to resurvey the Call Property (“Smith Survey”). (Findings, 2005, R. at 197 ¶ 11). Before Smith conducted the survey, Don Call requested Smith give him a few extra feet of property and a description of the Fence Line as a “convenience fence.” (Findings, 2005, R. at 206 ¶ 85). Don Call informed Layne Smith of his need for additional property so he could add another apartment unit to his development. (Findings, 2005, R. at 206 ¶ 83). As a result, the Smith Survey reflects a self-serving purpose. (Findings, 2005, R. at 206 ¶ 83).

6. The Smith Survey gave Don Call what he requested and extended the Call Property Boundary Line north beyond the Fence Line with enough additional square footage to allow Calls to add an additional apartment unit. (Findings, 2005, R. at 197-98 ¶ 12).

7. The Fence Line had been the recognized division between the Call and Seethaler property since at least 1963. Seethaler and his predecessors in interest have occupied all land north of the Fence Line for longer than thirty-two (32) years. Calls had never pastured, utilized or occupied land north of the Fence Line until commencing construction of the wall in 2002, after the Smith Survey. (Findings, 2005, R. at 200 ¶¶ 28-30).

8. Calls and their predecessors in interest never objected to the location of the Fence Line, nor claimed it was anything other than a boundary fence, until Calls received a draft copy of the Smith Survey in late 2001. (Findings, 2005, R. at 201 ¶ 31).

9. Calls and the City of Logan relied on the Crow Survey from the time Calls began developing their land in the early 1990's until they commissioned the Smith Survey in 2001. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 18). Additionally, on February 28, 2002, Calls relied on the 1993 Crow Survey when successfully attempting to move the placement of a proposed building in a meeting with the Logan City Planning Commission. Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 35.

10. In 2002, Calls began developing along the north boundary of Calls' Property consistent with the Smith Survey. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 19). Calls did not begin the encroaching development between the Call and the Seethaler Property until the Summer of 2003. (T. Vol. 1 at 25). This development interfered with Seethaler's use of his property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 20).

11. During 2002 and 2003, Calls constructed a cement retaining wall ("Retaining Wall") north of the Fence Line and hauled in several feet of fill onto the Seethaler Property without permission from Seethaler. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 21).

12. A letter from Seethaler dated May 28, 2002, and a letter from Seethaler's counsel dated July 30, 2002, to Calls placed them on notice that they proceeded with the construction and development at their own risk, but even after court action commenced, Calls continued with the construction. (Findings, 2005, R. at 200 ¶ 22).

13. In 2002, at Seethaler's request, Jeff Hansen, a licensed surveyor, performed a survey ("Hansen Survey"). The Hansen Survey closely approximates and is consistent with the Crow Survey and shows the Fence Line as the Boundary Line between the Call Property

and the Seethaler Property. The Hansen Survey accurately delineates the true Boundary Line between the Seethaler and Call Properties. (Findings, 2005, R. at 198 ¶¶ 13-14).

14. The Hansen Survey is consistent with the Crow Survey commissioned by Calls that used the historic Fence Line as the boundary between the Call Property and the Seethaler Property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 15).

15. The Hansen survey shows that the Smith Survey placed the deeded Boundary Line between two (2) to six (6) feet north of the true Boundary Line between the Call Property and the Seethaler Property as marked by the Fence Line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 199 ¶ 16).

16. On April 28, 2005, the court entered a Judgment and Decree and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 189; Findings, 2005, R. at 195). The court found Seethaler had satisfied each and every requirement for the establishment of a boundary by acquiescence pursuant to Utah law as the Fence Line had been mutually acquiesced to as the Boundary Line between the Call Property and the Seethaler Property. (Judgment, 2005, R. at 191 ¶ 4; Findings, 2005, R. at 211 ¶ 4).

17. Calls unilaterally removed and obliterated the Crow Survey markers and the cedar post fence located on the Fence Line between the Seethaler Property and the Call Property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 200 ¶ 23).

18. Calls' Retaining Wall and fill created an unnatural dam that blocked the long-established flow of water run-off from the Seethaler Property, and has created potential flooding and drainage problems on the Seethaler Property. Calls also destroyed portions of

the Seethaler Property parking lot. Calls did all this without permission of Seethaler and without regard to Seethaler's objections. (Findings, 2005, R. at 200 ¶¶ 24, 27).

19. There is a utility pole north of the Fence Line which only serves the Seethaler Property. This pole predates the development of the Call Property in 1993. If the Smith Survey was accepted, the utility pole would be on the Call Property, and the Seethaler Property does not have a utility easement across the northern edge or any portion of the Call Property. The Hansen Survey places the pole on the Seethaler Property consistent with a utility easement along the south five feet (5') of the Seethaler Property. No similar easement exists on the northern portion of the Call Property. (Findings, 2005, R. at 201 ¶¶ 34-36).

20. The Calls' Retaining Wall sits north of the Seethaler's utility pole and related utility easement on the Seethaler's side of the Fence Line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 201 ¶ 37).

21. Calls acknowledged that the Fence Line was the legitimate Boundary Line between the Call Property and the Seethaler Property when they constructed a curb and gutter in 1993. The curb and gutter runs north and south along the eastern boundary of the Calls Property and stops at the Fence Line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 201 ¶ 39; Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 28 photos m, o, r and t).

22. Seethaler's neighbors, the Wendts, constructed a canal Retaining Wall that ends at the same location as the Fence Line demonstrating that the Fence Line was widely recognized in the community as the Boundary Line. (Findings, 2005, R. at 201-02 ¶¶ 40-41; Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 28 photos a and c).

23. No one, including the Calls, ever objected to the Boundary Line defined in the Crow Survey or the Fence Line as a Boundary Line until Calls commissioned the self-serving Smith Survey in late 2001. (Findings, 2005, R. at 202 ¶ 43).

24. Don Call admitted that he or his agents unilaterally removed all historical monuments during the construction process. These monuments included Seethaler's improvements and trees and the survey markers placed by Don Call's surveyor, Wayne Crow, in connection with the 1993 Crow survey. (Findings, 2005, R. at 203 ¶ 54).

25. Don Call acknowledged that the trees he removed and land beneath them were not his when he asked Seethaler, "shall I take these trees down for you?" in a conversation with Seethaler in 2001. (Findings, 2005, R. at 203 ¶ 55).

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