2008

# Lawrence P. Emery, Jennifer J. Emery, Karl H. Seethaler v. Don W. Call, Linda Call : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Mr. Seethaler failed to present to the trial court – and, hence, preserve – two claims: 1) that he was “irreparably harmed” and 2) that the trial court granted the Calls a *de facto* right of condemnation. Mr. Seethaler further failed to present to the trial court any request for – and any legal basis for – injunctive relief regarding removal of a cement wall constructed by the Calls.

By presenting testimony of a surveyor as to the square footage of a small sliver of land that was on the Calls' side of the cement wall and by presenting the testimony of a property appraiser as to the value of a square foot of the Seethaler Property, Mr. Seethaler invited the money damages he was awarded by the trial court in equity for loss of use of the small sliver of land.

In his challenge to a finding of fact, Mr. Seethaler failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's finding that all the parties acted in good faith and none of the parties acted in bad faith. This Court should not reverse that finding.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Given its findings on the disputed boundary, the trial court crafted appropriate equitable remedies below.**

The Calls disagree with the trial court's core finding that the Crow Survey and the Hansen Survey are more reliable than the Smith Survey. Accordingly, the Calls disagree with the trial court's ultimate finding that their northern boundary is several feet short of the boundary determined by the Smith Survey.

That said, the most important point the Calls want to make to this Court is that the trial court's findings and rulings under review were made in an **equitable proceeding**. As noted above, the trial court resolved multiple claims – pleaded and unpleaded – by the parties. The litigation below lasted nearly five years, was hard fought, involved multiple issues, and saw the Calls change counsel after the first 2 ½ days of trial. In the end – as so often happens in complicated cases in equity – parties on both sides of the lawsuit left the courthouse feeling aggrieved. The Calls, for example, have paid a total of **\$39,867** in court-awarded damages to Mr. Seethaler and the Emery plaintiffs for damages related to construction of a cement wall on their side of the boundary line determined by the Smith Survey. And Mr. Seethaler – despite having his own counsel draft all of the findings of fact, all of the conclusions of law and the three judgments and decrees issued by the trial court – is appealing one of the many findings of fact and one of the many equitable remedies crafted by the trial court to resolve this dispute.

The second most important point the Calls want to make is that **the trial court fully understood its duties and responsibilities in formulating equitable remedies** in the lawsuit below. The trial court's prelude to its rulings in the equity proceeding on November 28, 2006 began as follows:

**First, this is a case in equity. Equity means what is right and reasonable. What I'm called upon to do as the judge in this case is to decide what is right and reasonable.** When I say right, I don't mean necessarily right under the law, what I mean is right in all of the circumstances considered. Practical, legal, financial, economical and recognizing property rights.

**Property rights are unique.** There's no question about it. There's only so much land in this world and every bit it is unique. Ownership of it is critically important to people. There are substantial, including constitutional, rights addressed by – affecting property rights.

**Having said that, one of the principles in equity is that those who seek equity must do equity.** Allegations on both sides are that some of the parties have acted if in not bad faith, their actions were lacking in good faith. There is a difference between those two in the eyes of the law. Quite frankly, so much occurred here, so much lack of communication, so much self-interest, though not inappropriate self-interest. Things could have been done better but weren't. As a result of that, we have the mess we're in now. *(Emphasis added.)*<sup>78</sup>

Both before and after the prelude, the trial court found that none of the parties had acted in bad faith and that all of the parties had acted in good faith.<sup>79</sup> The court made its next significant ruling in equity on November 28, 2006:

---

<sup>78</sup> 2006 T., pp. 144-145.

<sup>79</sup> 2006 T., pp. 124, 139, 145.

**I'll first find that it is not equitable nor judicially appropriate to order removal of that wall. I'm not going to order it. I think that would be inequitable, inappropriate, economically unfeasible and unreasonable in every aspect. (*Emphasis added.*)**<sup>80</sup>

The trial court explained its reasons for leaving the cement wall in place: 1) the high cost of removing and rebuilding the wall; 2) construction of the wall “has not resulted in a loss to [Mr.] Seethaler of any parking”; 3) the City of Logan could have been brought into the lawsuit as a party so the court could adjudicate Mr. Seethaler's rights vis-a-vis the city regarding conforming or non-conforming uses (such as parking), but the city was never made a party; and 4) the wall is more “esthetically pleasing” than the “broken down, tumbled down, dilapidated, deferred maintained fence with junk and garbage and trash accumulating, including vegetation dead and alive.”<sup>81</sup>

The starting point for this Court's analysis of the case law on equitable remedies is found in *Ockey v. Lehmer*:<sup>82</sup>

The availability of a remedy is a legal conclusion that we review for correctness. However, a trial court is accorded considerable latitude and discretion in applying and formulating an equitable remedy, and [it] will not be overturned unless it [has] abused its discretion.

---

<sup>80</sup> 2006 T., p. 146.

<sup>81</sup> 2006 T., pp. 147-150.

<sup>82</sup> *Ockey v. Lehmer*, 2008 UT 37, ¶ 42, 189 P.3d 51, 61.

In the footnote to this quotation from the *Ockey* decision, the Supreme Court cited to *Thurston v. Box Elder County*<sup>83</sup> as “holding that the *availability* of an equitable remedy is reviewed for correctness but that the trial court's *application and formulation* of an equitable remedy is reviewed for abuse of discretion.”

**The fundamental question for this Court, then, is whether the trial court's decisions to (i) leave the cement wall in place, (ii) give the Calls use of a small sliver of land on their side of the wall, and (iii) compensate Mr. Seethaler with money damages are appropriate equitable remedies.**

The Supreme Court in *Hughes v. Cafferty*<sup>84</sup> provides excellent guidance in understanding a court of equity's broad authority to resolve disputes:

**All parties concede this is a case in equity, and equity cases afford courts discretion and latitude in fashioning equitable remedies.** Although the court of appeals could have provided a more comprehensive opinion discussing all of the equities present in this case, it was not required to do so. A court acting in equity is not required to recite its decision in terms of specific factors or to adhere to formulaic tests. Rather, its obligation is to effectuate a result that serves equity given the overall facts and circumstances of the individual case. (*Emphasis added.*)

In the footnote to the above quotation from the *Hughes* decision, the Supreme Court elaborated:<sup>85</sup>

---

<sup>83</sup> *Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1040-41 (UT 1995) (*emphasis in original*).

<sup>84</sup> *Hughes v. Cafferty*, 2004 UT 22, ¶ 24, 89 P.3d 148, 153.

<sup>85</sup> *Id.* at fn. 2, *quoting State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (UT 1994).

Because decisions in equity are based on the overall facts and circumstances of each individual case, it is appropriate to give considerable deference to the trial court:

[I]t is before [the trial] court that the witnesses and parties appear and the evidence is adduced. The judge of that court is therefore considered to be in the best position to assess the credibility of witnesses and to derive a sense of the proceeding as a whole, something an appellate court cannot hope to garner from a cold record.

Finally – in conjunction with its affirmation of the trial court's balancing the equities – the Supreme Court in *Hughes v. Cafferty* contrasted the confines of legal rulings with the flexibility of equitable rulings:<sup>86</sup>

The distinguishing characteristics of legal remedies are their uniformity, their unchangeableness or fixedness, their lack of adaptation to circumstances, and the technical rules which govern their use.... Equitable remedies, on the other hand, are distinguished by their flexibility, their unlimited variety, [and] their adaptability to circumstances.... **[T]he court of equity has the power of devising its remedy and shaping it so as to fit the changing circumstances of every case and the complex relations of all the parties.**<sup>87</sup>

Each case presents unique facts and circumstances. What is relevant or persuasive in one equity decision may be meaningless in another context. “As in much else that pertains to equitable jurisdiction, individualization in the exercise of a discretionary power will alone retain equity as a living system and save it from sterility.” (*Emphasis added.*)<sup>88</sup>

---

<sup>86</sup> *Id.* at 2004 UT 22, ¶¶ 26-27, 89 P.3d at 153-154.

<sup>87</sup> Quoting Spencer W. Symons, *Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence* § 109 (5th ed.1941).

<sup>88</sup> Quoting *Sprague v. Ticonic Nat'l Bank*, 307 U.S. 161, 167, 59 S.Ct. 777, 83 L.Ed. 1184 (1939).

**II. Mr. Seethaler did not preserve his claim of “irreparable harm,” and he invited the remedy of money damages.**

Mr. Seethaler claims in his brief – for the first time ever – that he has suffered “irreparable harm” because the trial court did not order removal of the cement wall and the “monetary damages awarded by the trial court were not adequate to compensate [Mr.] Seethaler for the irreparable injury he suffered.”<sup>89</sup>

However, Mr. Seethaler did not raise his claim of “irreparable harm” before the trial court.<sup>90</sup> As noted by this Court in *Myrah v. Campbell*:<sup>91</sup> “In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must be ... sufficiently raised to a level of consciousness before the trial court, and must be supported by evidence or relevant legal authority.”

In addition, Mr. Seethaler should not be heard to complain about receiving money damages for the Calls' use of the small sliver of land on their side of the cement wall.

**Mr. Seethaler himself is the one who produced all the evidence relied upon by the trial court to award such monetary damages.** In the November 28, 2006 equity proceeding, Mr. Seethaler presented the testimony of surveyor Jeff Hansen, who calculated for the trial court the amount of Mr. Seethaler's land on the Calls' side of the cement wall (including the wall): 612 square feet.<sup>92</sup> Then Mr. Seethaler presented the

---

<sup>89</sup> *Brief of Appellant*, p. 18.

<sup>90</sup> R. at 1-487; T. Vols. I, II, III; 2006 T.; 4/2/2007 T.; 7/9/2007 T.; 11/19/2007 T.

<sup>91</sup> *Myrah v. Campbell*, 2007 UT App. 168, ¶ 18, 163 P.3d 679, 683.

<sup>92</sup> T. 11/28/06, pp. 43-45



testimony of property appraiser Tom Singleton, who testified to the market value of the small sliver of Mr. Seethaler's land on the Calls' side of the wall: \$8900.<sup>93</sup> Mr. Singleton even testified that he valued the Seethaler Property at \$13 per square foot using a “methodology” he uses for determining the value of this property in a “taking.”<sup>94</sup> Mr. Singleton also testified to the tax rate that would be used to calculate Mr. Seethaler's taxes on the sliver of land: \$21.60 per year.<sup>95</sup>

If Mr. Seethaler did not want the trial court to award money damages for the small sliver of his property on the Calls' side of the wall, he should not have presented evidence leading the court directly to that remedy.

Moreover, “irreparable harm” is a term of art in equity. Regarding “irreparable harm,” The Supreme Court in *Johnson v. Hermes Associates, LTD* stated:<sup>96</sup>

“Irreparable harm,” a term often interchanged with “irreparable injury,” is defined as “a harm that a court would be unable to remedy even if the movant would prevail in the final adjudication.” We have also explained that irreparable injury consists of “wrongs of a repeated and continuing character, or which occasion damages that are estimated only by conjecture, and not by any accurate standard.” A party proves irreparable injury when establishing that “he or she is unlikely to be made whole by an award of monetary damages or

---

<sup>93</sup> 2006 T., pp. 64-74.

<sup>94</sup> 2006 T., pp. 65-70.

<sup>95</sup> 2006 T., pp. 74-75.

<sup>96</sup> *Johnson v. Hermes Associates, LTD*, 2005 UT 82, ¶ 18 128 P.3d 1151, 1157, quoting 42 Am.Jur.2d *Injunctions* § 33 (2004); citing 13 *Moore's Federal Practice* § 65.06[2] (3d ed.2005) and *Carrier v. Lindquist*, 2001 UT 105, ¶ 29, 37 P.3d 1112.

some other legal, as opposed to equitable, remedy.... Thus, an injury is irreparable if the damages are estimable only by conjecture and not by any accurate standard.”

Given that Mr. Seethaler himself presented the trial court with all the evidence necessary to calculate reasonably accurate monetary damages for loss of use of 612 square feet of real property along the wall, Mr. Seethaler cannot prove that he is irreparably harmed by leaving the cement wall in place and spending – or investing – the money damages he has already received from the Calls.<sup>97</sup>

**III. Mr. Seethaler's cases do not support his assertion that he is entitled to a different form of equitable relief.**

Mr. Seethaler cites a number of cases in support of his position that he is entitled to different equitable relief than what he was granted below: *Strawberry Electric Service District v. Spanish Fork City*,<sup>98</sup> *Carrier v. Lundquist*,<sup>99</sup> *Systems Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon*,<sup>100</sup> and *Papanikolas Brothers Enterprises v. Sugarhouse Shopping Center Associates*,<sup>101</sup> The problem is, all of these are injunction cases. And **Mr. Seethaler**

---

<sup>97</sup> R. 461-462.

<sup>98</sup> *Strawberry Electric Service District v. Spanish Fork City*, 918 P.2d 870 (UT 1996).

<sup>99</sup> *Carrier v. Lundquist*, 2001 UT 105, 37 P.3d 1112.

<sup>100</sup> *Systems Concepts, Inc. v. Dixon*, 669 P.2d 421 (UT 1983)

<sup>101</sup> *Papanikolas Brothers Enterprises v. Sugarhouse Shopping Center Associates*, 535 P.2d 1256 (UT 1975).

**never sought injunctive relief in the court below.**<sup>102</sup> Mr. Seethaler never provided the trial court an opportunity to inquire into whether he would truly suffer irreparable harm if the cement wall were allowed to remain. Indeed, in the year between the construction of the cement wall along the Emery Property and the construction of the cement wall along the Seethaler Property, Mr. Seethaler did not seek injunctive relief – which was an available remedy if Mr. Seethaler indeed thought he would be irreparably harmed.<sup>103</sup> After the plaintiffs filed their *Complaint*, Mr. Seethaler did not seek injunctive relief. Again, this would have been an available remedy. Then, at the November 28, 2006 equity hearing, Mr. Seethaler presented evidence in support of monetary damages.

Even after the November 28, 2006 equity hearing in which the trial court ordered the equitable remedies now under review, Mr. Seethaler did not request the trial court to reconsider and grant him the injunctive relief he is now asking this Court to grant him. There was an additional 14 months of litigation in this matter after the November 28, 2006 equity hearing – including the plaintiffs' *Motion to Enforce Judgment and to Limit Bench Ruling or for Reconsideration*<sup>104</sup> – but that additional litigation involved spruce trees on the Emery Property, not injunctive relief.

---

<sup>102</sup> R. at 1-487; T. Vols. I, II, III; 2006 T.; 4/2/2007 T.; 7/9/2007 T.; 11/19/2007 T.

<sup>103</sup> *Hunsaker v. Kersh*, 991 P.2d 67, 69 (“A preliminary injunction is ‘an anticipatory remedy purposed to prevent the perpetration of a threatened wrong or to compel the cessation of a continuing one.’ It further serves to “preserve the status quo pending the outcome of the case.”)(*Citations ommitted.*)

<sup>104</sup> R. at pp. 340-363.

Only on appeal – after seeking and receiving monetary damages from the trial court – does Mr. Seethaler decide that he would prefer a different form of equitable relief, that is, injunctive relief ordering removal of the cement wall because of alleged irreparable harm. By failing to raise the issue below, Mr. Seethaler waived any claim he may have had to injunctive relief, or he at least failed to preserve the issue.<sup>105</sup>

Nevertheless, there is no reason to believe the trial court would have ruled any differently had it applied the “balancing of equities” test now advocated by Mr. Seethaler. As explained by the Supreme Court in *Carrier v. Lundquist*:<sup>106</sup>

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